IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
[IN THE SUPREME COURT]

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA WORKER'S
COMPENSATION COMMISSION

COMMISSIONERS: Melody James, Chair, Aisha Taylor, Avery Wilkerson

CASE NO: 2017-001027

Seeahray Brailsford Employee, Claimant, Appellant

V

Piggly Wiggly, Inc., Employee
Constitution State Service Company AS TPA For Greenbax Enterprise, INC.
Carrier, Respondent

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JAN 23 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Seeahray Brailsford
322 Rice Road
Newberry, S. C. 29108
(803) 276-0001
Appellant, Self Represent

Michael E. Chase
Carmlo Barone Sammataro
P. O. Box 1473
Columbia, S. C. 29202
(803) 254-2200
Attorney for Respondent

I N D E X

1. Copy of transcript of proceeding, January 23, 2017, p.1-22
2. Decision and order, p. 1-9
3. Why story with pictures, p. 1-2
4. Rotator cuff tear, p. 1-6
5. What is primary biliary cholangitis? p. 1-2
6. What is chronic stress? p. 1-4
7. Stress and your health osteoporosis, p. 1-7

SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

W.C.C. FILE #1019167

RECEIVED

MAY 25 2017

SC Court of Appeals

SEEHRAY BRAILSFORD)
 CLAIMANT,)
 VS.)
 PIGGLY WIGGLY)
 EMPLOYER,)
 AND)
 GREENBAX ENTERPRISES)
 CARRIER.)

SC WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

FULL BOARD HEARING OF

SEEHRAY BRAILSFORD

VS

PIGGLY WIGGLY

This is the Transcript of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Full Board Hearing of Seeahray Brailsford versus Piggly wiggly, taken before Gloria Davis, a Court Reporter and Notary Public in and for the State of South Carolina, commencing at the hour of 1:32 P.M., Monday, January 23, 2017, at South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, 1333 Main Street Columbia, South Carolina.

COPY

REPORTED

BY

GLORIA DAVIS

PALMETTO COURT REPORTING
 321 Mac Circle Lexington, SC 29073
 (803) 358-0515
www.PalmettoCourtReporting.com

APPEARANCES

FOR THE APPELLANT:
Pro se

FOR THE RESPONDENT:
Michael E. Chase, Esquire
Turner Padgett Graham & Laney, PA
1901 Main Street, 17th Floor
P.O. Box 1473
Columbia, SC 29202

ALSO PRESENT:

Mr. George Rogers

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:

Melody James, Chair
Aisha Taylor
Avery Wilkerson

*Reporter's Note: -- Indicates incomplete thought or sentence, trailing off or interruption by speakers.

**This is an Official Transcript governed by 25A S.C. Code ANN. Regs 67-615 D (Supp. 2000). The unauthorized copying of this document is deemed to be conversion of an asset belonging to the Court Reporter.

I N D E X

	Page
Argument for the Appellant by Ms. Brailsford	6:6
Argument for the Respondent by Mr. Chase	14:5
Reply for the Appellant by Ms. Brailsford	17:19
Certificate	22



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

STIPULATIONS

Commissioner James: All right. Madame Court Reporter, if you will call the case.

Court Reporter: Today is January 23rd, 2017. This is South Carolina Workers Compensation case number 1019167. This is the case of Seeahray Brailsford, the Claimant, versus Piggly wiggly, the Employer, Greenbax Enterprises is the Carrier. The Appellant is the pro se Claimant. The Respondent is represented by Michael E. Chase. Each side is allowed ten (10) minutes for argument and the Appellant three (3) minutes in reply. You are requested to argue the grounds of exception and stay within the record. The Single Hearing Commissioner was Commissioner Beck.

Commissioner James: All right. And, Ms. Brailsford, we had a discussion before we went on the record about your right to an attorney and also about the time that would be allotted for -- for the argument today. You responded to me that you do not wish to exercise your right to an attorney; is that correct?

Ms. Brailsford: Correct.

Commissioner James: Okay. So, you're going to be representing yourself in today's hearing,

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

correct?

Ms. Brailsford: Yes.

Commissioner James: And I also advised you there is always some danger to self-representation; you understand that?

Ms. Brailsford: Yes.

Commissioner James: All right. And you still wish to proceed on your own?

Ms. Brailsford: Yes.

Commissioner James: All right. Then, you can begin when you're ready, ma'am.

Ms. Brailsford: Can I ask a question?

Commissioner James: Yes, ma'am.

Ms. Brailsford: The question I have is, why do you send people to a workers' Comp doctor if the doctor tells you what to do and then it's not followed through?

Commissioner James: All right. Ma'am, you can present that as part of your argument and your position.

Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

Commissioner James: I can answer questions on procedure but as to what actually happened in this particular case, the two (2) of you all will have to present that to us and what your -- what

1 your -- what your relative positions are, okay?

2 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

3 Commissioner James: So, you can begin with
4 your ten (10) minutes, ma'am.

5 ARGUMENT FOR THE APPELLANT

6 By Ms. Brailsford:

7 well, I feel that -- wait a minute.

8 Mr. Rogers: She's not feeling well today;
9 today is one of her bad days.

10 Commissioner James: Okay.

11 Mr. Rogers: Would I be allowed to speak for
12 her? I'm her husband.

13 Commissioner James: No, sir. We can't allow
14 that. The Courts have ruled that if we allowed
15 you to do that it would be the unauthorized
16 practice of law; so, we can't do that. If she is
17 feeling physically unable today, then we can
18 discuss whether or not there needs to be a
19 continuance for today's hearing.

20 Mr. Rogers: Well, this goes on most of the
21 time. She is very, very, very, very sick.

22 Commissioner James: All right. Well --

23 Mr. Rogers: It's a liver disease and she
24 went from two hundred and fourteen (214) pounds --

25 Commissioner James: -- all right. Well --

1 all right, this --

2 Mr. Rogers: -- to ninety-four (94) pounds.

3 Commissioner James: -- all right. Mr.
4 Brailsford, just one minute. Ms. Brailsford, do
5 you feel like -- like you can proceed today or do
6 you need -- do you need a moment, do you need a --

7 Mr. Rogers: If you can talk, talk.

8 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

9 Commissioner James: -- that's -- it's up to
10 you. I don't want you to proceed if you're not
11 feeling well today. We can --

12 Ms. Brailsford: No.

13 Commissioner James: -- we can talk about
14 continuing it.

15 Ms. Brailsford: No. I'd just like to get it
16 done.

17 Commissioner James: That -- that --

18 Mr. Rogers: One of the problems she has is
19 she can't talk very long.

20 Commissioner James: -- all right. Then
21 we'll adjust the time some for her in that case,
22 okay?

23 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

24 Commissioner James: So -- but it's standard
25 is ten (10) minutes but what we'll do is we'll --

1 we'll adjust a little bit. I can't -- I can't
2 adjust it a ton but, again, we'll -- we'll
3 compensate for that some but if you are not
4 feeling up to this physically or emotionally, then
5 you let us know.

6 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

7 Commissioner James: But we're going to
8 proceed then unless you tell me otherwise.

9 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

10 Commissioner James: All right. You can go
11 ahead.

12 Ms. Brailsford: well, I feel like it's unjust
13 because I am -- I can't even put -- I can't think.
14 Hold on a minute.

15 Mr. Rogers: Just tell them that when Dr.
16 Lovelace ordered the MM -- MRI they said no down
17 here and you want to know why and -- and --

18 Ms. Brailsford: what do I do, tell you about
19 what happened or why I am appealing it?

20 Commissioner James: Yes, ma'am, why you're
21 appealing.

22 Ms. Brailsford: why I'm appealing it? Okay.
23 Because -- like the depression, I was never depressed
24 before that and then the thing I got back it says
25 depression was part of my illness; I got that after I

1 got injured and was out so long. And then I'd have to
2 fight for everything to get done; there was a wait for
3 everything. And then, I have a crack in my bone up
4 here (indicating) and that is related to the injury
5 because in Dr. Lee's notes, he's answering workers'
6 Comp, if this crack in the bone is part of the original
7 injury and he said yes and it -- it was ruled that it's
8 not included.

9 Mr. Rogers: And your liver disease.

10 Ms. Brailsford: And then, I got the liver disease
11 from all this worry. And the -- the big bruise I had
12 on my arm, they -- the doctor explained it to us that
13 this is all part of it because I've had three (3)
14 surgeries, plus all the physical therapy, plus all the
15 medications, plus the constant pressure on me for
16 stress. And he -- they said that that's what led to
17 the liver disease and they're saying that's not part of
18 it either. All they want to take care of is the
19 shoulder. But if I fall and this bone cracks, it's
20 still not all the way healed, I still have a small
21 crack but there's nothing I can do; I have to let it
22 go. But if this -- if I should fall and land here
23 it'll break that and there's nothing they can do.

24 Mr. Rogers: Tell them about your injury.

25 Ms. Brailsford: I -- what happened was, I fell

1 and I broke my femur in three (3) spots. And then, I
2 ended up with having osteoporosis, which they said is
3 caused from all the other problems I've had but just
4 like cascaded down from this injury. But the -- the
5 main thing is, taking care of my shoulder and my arm,
6 which was ruled as part of it and the --

7 Mr. Rogers: The liver.

8 Ms. Brailsford: -- the liver and also, you -- you
9 send paperwork for the physical therapy to fill out and
10 test you and see how you perform and stuff and on the
11 back of that, the very last page, he says I can not
12 work. And they were asking me if I had looked for a
13 job. Well, he states right there I can't look -- I
14 can't work; I'm not workable. I have no other income
15 but Social Security.

16 Commissioner Taylor: Ms. Brailsford, at the
17 hearing below did you present any evidence, like
18 any reports that associated your liver disease to
19 the -- to the shoulder accident?

20 Mr. Rogers: We can't hear -- we can't hear
21 you.

22 Ms. Brailsford: I'm sorry?

23 Commissioner Taylor: Oh. At the hearing
24 below, did you present any evidence, any medical
25 records that tie in the liver disease to the

1 shoulder injury?

2 Mr. Rogers: We have them.

3 Commissioner Taylor: Did --

4 Ms. Brailsford: No, not --

5 Commissioner Taylor: -- did you present it
6 at the hearing before?

7 Ms. Brailsford: -- no.

8 Mr. Rogers: No.

9 Commissioner Taylor: Okay.

10 Ms. Brailsford: We -- we --

11 Mr. Rogers: We have all the evidence --

12 Commissioner Taylor: Okay.

13 Mr. Rogers: -- regarding --

14 Commissioner Taylor: And sir, I've got to
15 tell you you can't speak; I need her to answer my
16 questions, okay?

17 Ms. Brailsford: -- okay.

18 Mr. Rogers: -- well --

19 Commissioner Taylor: And she can -- she can
20 understand me.

21 Mr. Rogers: -- I'm the one that compiled it;
22 so, she doesn't know everything I've got.

23 Commissioner Taylor: I understand that but
24 that's --

25 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

1 Commissioner Taylor: -- okay. It's her
2 claim. It's her workers' Compensation claim.

3 Ms. Brailsford: We got -- went on the Internet
4 and we found all this information about this liver
5 disease I have and they all say the same thing, I have
6 --

7 Mr. Rogers: In the Comp.

8 Ms. Brailsford: -- to be a trigger to start it
9 and the trigger is this big bruise and my shoulder.
10 And what it says is that the T cells will run to the
11 shoulder. And they can't fix it; they don't know
12 what's wrong. So, they get confused. They don't
13 understand why yet but they get confused. And then
14 they'll go and they'll think, well, that's not it and
15 they'll go somewhere else. But since I was taking so
16 much medicine and the anesthesia and everything, they
17 went right to the liver assuming that that was the
18 problem. And what they do is they close the duct and
19 that's how I got the sclerosis of the liver, we think.
20 But they all say it transpires from all of this stress
21 on the shoulder. And the tracking is from this -- from
22 the stress. I had three (3) surgeries, all the therapy
23 and we're -- Dr. Lee said that the weight of the muscle
24 pulled down on the shoulder and cracked it. He said it
25 is kind of rare but it does happen. He said since I

1 had three (3), like, right in a row it was a lot of
2 stress on the shoulder and that's what cracked it. But
3 it's in their own notes where he replies to them and
4 tells them but yet they're saying no.

5 Commissioner James: You have four (4)
6 minutes left; do you have anything else you want
7 to tell us, ma'am? And we have your -- we have
8 your written brief and all of the records from the
9 hearing below.

10 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

11 Commissioner James: So, we do have your
12 written position --

13 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

14 Commissioner James: -- and we -- we will be
15 reviewing that.

16 Ms. Brailsford: All right.

17 Commissioner Wilkerson: Thank you.

18 Ms. Brailsford: I have all kinds of
19 information if you need anything else.

20 Commissioner James: We -- we have -- we are
21 restricted to whatever the record is below.

22 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

23 Commissioner James: So, we have -- we have
24 all of that --

25 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

1 Commissioner James: -- okay? All right.

2 Mr. Chase.

3 Mr. Chase: Thank you, Commissioner.

4 ARGUMENT FROM THE RESPONDENT

5 By Mr. Chase:

6 May it please the Commission. This is a -- this
7 was a how much case as far as permanent partial
8 disability to a single scheduled member, the left
9 shoulder, the -- at the hearing with Commissioner Beck.
10 Under Section 42-9-30 it's our position today that the
11 ruling by Commissioner Beck is supported by a
12 preponderance of evidence and that there was no error
13 of law in his decision. Before I make just a few
14 comments, and I -- I really don't have many to make,
15 Commissioners, I did want to point out a little bit of
16 explanation with the award that Commissioner Beck made
17 in this case. And as the Commissioners have seen in
18 the order it is seventy percent (70%) permanent partial
19 disability to the Claimant's shoulder, subject to the
20 five hundred (500) week limitation. And what I wanted
21 to point out was at the time of the hearing
22 approximately two hundred and ninety (290) weeks of
23 temporary total disability had been paid at that point
24 in time. So, to do that math for you Commissioners,
25 five hundred (500) weeks, the maximum, less the two

1 ninety (290), comes out to two hundred and ten (210)
2 weeks. So, if you work that on to the shoulder, that's
3 seventy percent (70%) of the shoulder that was left on
4 the balance of the maximum that she could get under the
5 Workers' Compensation Act of five hundred (500) weeks.
6 So, we're here today on an appeal of a case that was --
7 the issue was the amount of permanency to that body
8 part, the left shoulder. So, I have just a few
9 comments to make; really it's all in the record. Dr.
10 Lee was the Claimant's final surgeon. She was with Dr.
11 Holmes to start with. Dr. Lee gave a forty-six point
12 seven percent (46.7%) rating in the case, impairment
13 rating. We were there on a stop pay application. We
14 were seeking credit for overpayment. We were given
15 some credit for overpayment but only back to the date
16 that we filed our stop pay hearing request, our Form
17 21; that filing date was July of 2016, July 25th. The
18 hearing in this case was August 1st of 2016. Now, we
19 were seeking credit all the way back to when Dr. Lee
20 released the Claimant, we didn't get that at the Single
21 Commissioner Hearing, we got from when we filed for our
22 stop pay hearing request; we have not appealed that
23 issue. The Claimant was also given, in addition to the
24 seventy percent (70%) permanent partial disability to
25 the shoulder, lifetime causally related medical

1 treatment for her left shoulder and that does include
2 the hardware that she has in her shoulder. Just a
3 couple of points from the Single Commissioner Hearing
4 that are in the record of this case. The Claimant is
5 no longer taking any prescription medication at all for
6 the shoulder; that was introduced. She has not been
7 back to Dr. Lee, the surgeon, since he released her,
8 that was all the back in -- on July the 29th of 2014;
9 so, she has not been back to see him since then. The
10 Claimant does not know -- owe any medical bills,
11 whatsoever, from the left shoulder treatment provided
12 by my clients and those include medical bills and
13 treatment from Dr. Holmes, who I've mention already,
14 Dr. Lee, who was final -- her final surgeon. But in --
15 in addition to that, Commissioners, my clients paid for
16 her to see Dr. Fowble for a second opinion and also a
17 third opinion with a Dr. Hess in her case, as well as
18 substantial physical therapy with Newberry Therapists.
19 At the time of the Single Commissioner Hearing, the
20 Claimant was not seeking benefits for any depression,
21 which she is discussing today; in fact, that's on page
22 20 of the record or the hearing transcript and she was
23 asked specifically by Commissioner Beck whether or not
24 she was claiming depression as part of her claim and
25 she indicated she was not at that time. There was no

1 evidence introduced, anything with the liver or
2 anything with the depression at the time of the
3 hearing. So, with all respect, we ask that you affirm
4 the decision below. There has been no error of law and
5 the findings of fact are supported by a preponderance
6 of the evidence. Thank you.

7 Commissioner James: Ms. Brailsford, you have
8 three (3) minutes to reply if you have anything
9 you wish to say, ma'am.

10 Mr. Rogers: I didn't under -- I couldn't
11 hear it.

12 Commissioner James: You have three (3)
13 minutes to reply if you have --

14 Mr. Rogers: Tell them that -- that it's
15 wrong. That -- it -- it -- the liver was formed
16 by your shoulder not being cared for.

17 Commissioner James: All right.

18 REPLY FOR THE APPELLANT

19 By Ms. Brailsford:

20 We don't understand because the liver came about
21 because of the shoulder and I didn't -- we didn't know
22 to bring evidence the first time so we brought it all
23 this time because we thought it would be given a
24 different sentence. But we just don't -- it's kind of
25 a waste of time.

1 Mr. Rogers: That's what the shoulder looked
2 like when you guys down here stopped the MRI.
3 Nobody understands why you stopped the MRI. We
4 have contacted Tim Scott in Washington, Senator
5 Cromer --

6 Commissioner James: Sir, I don't mean to --
7 to stop you because I know you want to talk and --
8 but I have to because you can talk to her and
9 you've done it a couple of times.

10 Mr. Rogers: -- okay.

11 Commissioner James: But I can't --

12 Mr. Rogers: Ask them why they stopped the
13 MRI --

14 Commissioner James: -- I can't --

15 Mr. Rogers: -- ask them why they did it.

16 Ms. Brailsford: Okay. why did --

17 Commissioner James: -- let -- let me explain
18 to you why you have to stop you. I can't let you
19 advocate for her because it's the unauthorized
20 practice of law. You can talk to her just like
21 you've done a couple of times if you want to
22 suggest some things to her but --

23 Mr. Rogers: Ask them why they stopped the
24 MRI.

25 Ms. Brailsford: Okay. why didn't -- why

1 didn't they do it from the beginning, give me the
2 MRI?

3 Commissioner James: -- all right. Ma'am,
4 and I'm assuming you're talking about the Carrier.

5 Ms. Brailsford: Right.

6 Commissioner James: So -- all right. And if
7 that issue was in front of Commissioner Beck, then
8 we have that issue in front of us, okay?

9 Ms. Brailsford: Okay.

10 Mr. Rogers: well, tell them about the States
11 Attorney's Office, that you went there and they
12 said you had been terribly wronged.

13 Ms. Brailsford: well, we -- like I've said, we've
14 called -- we've talked to everybody and they don't
15 understand this either. And the VA's Office, Mrs.
16 Rogers, she said that they feel that I was justly
17 mistreated but, of course, there was nothing they
18 could do. So, they would pass this to other
19 people and they all say the same thing but nobody
20 wants to do anything about it.

21 Commissioner James: All right. Thank you
22 all. This concludes the hearing.

23 Court Reporter: Mr. Brailsford, could I get
24 your full name, please, since you were a speaker?

25 Ms. Brailsford: He can't hear you.

1 Court Reporter: Could I get your full name
2 please since you were a speaker?

3 Mr. Rogers: Mine?

4 Court Reporter: Yes, sir.

5 Mr. Rogers: Why do you want my name?

6 Court Reporter: Because you spoke I have to
7

8 Mr. Rogers: George Rogers.

9 Court Reporter: -- I thought you were Mr.
10 Brailsford?

11 Mr. Rogers: I'm George Rogers.

12 Commissioner James: All right. You will get
13 a written set of instructions when a decision has
14 been made; it will be made in the next ten (10)
15 days and, of course, it may take a little longer
16 for it to be sent out but you'll get a copy of
17 that and then should you prevail then it -- it'll
18 be assigned to probably the staff attorney to
19 draft and should Mr. Chase prevail it will be
20 assigned to him but you'll get something in the
21 next couple of weeks, okay?

22 Mr. Rogers: May I just say why we don't have
23 an attorney?

24 Commissioner James: No, sir. You're not
25 allowed to speak for her.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Mr. Rogers: Tell them why.

Commissioner James: All right.

Ms. Brailsford: The reason I don't have an attorney is because they all say the same thing, there's nothing you can do.

Commissioner James: All right.

Ms. Brailsford: The law needs to be changed, period; it's not fair to the person that's injured.

Commissioner James: All right. And -- and

--

Mr. Chase: Thank you, Commissioner.

Commissioner James: -- thank you all.

Ms. Brailsford: Thank you.

(THERE BEING NO FURTHER ARGUMENTS, THE HEARING CONCLUDED AT
1:52 P.M.)

**APPELLATE PANEL
DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION**

SCWCC FILE NO. 1019167

Seeahray Brailsford, Employee,

Claimant/Appellant,

v.

Piggly Wiggly Carolina Company, Inc., Employer,

and

Constitution State Service Company
as TPA for Greenbax Enterprise Inc., Carrier

Defendants/Respondents.

Appellate Panel Review held in Columbia,
South Carolina on January 23, 2017 per
notices timely and properly served on all
parties of interest.

Appellate Panel Decision and Order filed
March _____, 2017

ARGUMENTS BRIEFED BY:

Seeahray Brailsford representing herself *pro se*
for Claimant/Appellant

Michael E. Chase, Esquire, of Columbia, South Carolina
for Defendants/Respondents

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties were heard by Commissioner T. Scott Beck, Hearing Commissioner, in Columbia, South Carolina on August 1, 2016. On October 11, 2016, Commissioner Beck issued the following Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order:

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. The Claimant sustained an accidental injury to her left shoulder only on November 23, 2010, which arose out of and in the course of employment with Piggly Wiggly. This finding is based upon the pleadings, the testimony rendered, and the medical evidence submitted.
2. The Claimant treated with Dr. Wendell Holmes, and he performed shoulder surgery on March 9, 2011 (Def. APA 56-57). The Claimant continued to have shoulder issues and received a second opinion, paid for by the Defendants, with Dr. David Lee, who performed a second shoulder surgery on February 15, 2012 (Def. APA 181-184). The Claimant continued to have ongoing shoulder issues and eventually had a reverse total shoulder arthroplasty (Def. APA 188-190). As a result of this last procedure, the Claimant has prosthetics in her shoulder. This finding is based upon the testimony rendered and the medical evidence submitted.
3. The Claimant did not sustain any other injuries by accident arising out of and in the course of employment on the date in question, including but not limited to, her left arm, left elbow, and depression. In addition, the Claimant failed to show a causal connection between her left shoulder injury and subsequent treatment for her liver issue and other claimed infections she contends that she suffered from while in the hospital. This finding is based upon the testimony rendered and the medical evidence submitted.
4. Per stipulations made by the parties, the Claimant earned an average weekly wage of \$537.18, and, therefore, the applicable compensation rate is \$358.14.

5. The Claimant reached maximum medical improvement for her single scheduled member shoulder injury on July 29, 2014 (DEF APA 229). She was assigned a converted impairment rating of 46.7% to the left shoulder (DEF APA 229). She did not receive any other impairment ratings as a result of this accident.

6. Defendants are entitled to stop payment of temporary total disability benefits and are entitled to a credit for temporary total disability benefits paid beyond July 25, 2016, the date which the Defendants filed their Form 21.

7. The Claimant is entitled to 70% permanent partial disability to the left shoulder, less credit for TTD overpayment, and subject to the maximum total benefits of 500 weeks compensation under the Act, which may limit her net recovery.

8. The Claimant is awarded future lifetime medical care limited to the repair, maintenance, or replacement of causally related medical hardware for the left shoulder only pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-15-60.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Claimant suffered an admitted compensable injury to the left shoulder only on November 23, 2010. This conclusion is based upon findings of fact 1-5, and South Carolina Code Ann. Section 42-1-160.

2. The Claimant reached maximum medical improvement for the left shoulder on July 29, 2014. This conclusion is based upon findings of fact 1-5.

3. The Defendants are entitled to stop payment of temporary total disability benefits and are entitled to a credit for overpayment of temporary total disability benefits back to the date of filing the Form 21 on July 25, 2016 pursuant to South Carolina Code Ann. Section 42-9-10 and the regulations.

4. The Claimant is entitled to an award of 70% to the left shoulder. This conclusion is based upon finding of facts 1-7, and South Carolina Code Ann. Section 42-9-30 for a single scheduled member injury.

5. The award of 70% to the shoulder in this case for permanent partial disability is subject to, and may be limited by, the maximum period of compensation of 500 weeks allowable under the Act pursuant to section 42-9-10 and other sections of the Act. Therefore, claimant's net award may be less than 70% of the shoulder depending on the number of weeks of temporary total disability benefits paid.

6. The Claimant is entitled to lifetime causally related medical expenses limited to repair, maintenance or replacement of the hardware in the Claimant's left shoulder only. This conclusion is based upon South Carolina Code Ann. Section 42-15-60.

AWARD

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Claimant sustained a compensable injury to the left shoulder only on November 23, 2010 and reached maximum medical improvement on July 29, 2014;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Defendants are entitled to stop payment of temporary total disability benefits and that Defendants are entitled to a credit for temporary total disability benefits paid beyond July 25, 2016, the date of filing the Form 21.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Claimant is awarded 70% permanent partial disability benefits to the left shoulder, less credit for overpayment of TTD, and subject to the 500 week limitation of maximum compensation benefits.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Claimant is awarded future medical care limited to repair, maintenance, or replacement of causally related medical hardware in the left shoulder.

IT IS SO ORDERED.