THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
APPELLATE PANEL

RECEIVED
OCT 25 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2017-001027
W.C.C. File No. 1019167

Seahray Brailsford, Employee, Claimant,Appellant,

v.

Piggly Wiggly Carolina Company, Inc., Employer, and Constitution
State Service Company as TPA for Greenbax Enterprise Inc., Carrier, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Michael E. Chase (SC Bar No. 15230)
Carmelo B. Sammataro (SC Bar No. 69746)
Turner Padget Graham & Laney P.A.
Post Office Box 1473
Columbia, SC 29202
Phone: (803) 254-2200
Fax: (803) 799-3957

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

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

ARGUMENT

It has long been a tenant of South Carolina workers' compensation law that "[t]he burden is upon a claimant to prove such facts as will render [her] injury compensable within the provisions of the Worker's Compensation Law." *Lee v. Harborside Café*, 350 S.C. 74, 81, 564 S.E.2d 354, 358 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Kennedy v. Williamsburg County*, 242 S.C. 477, 480, 131 S.E.2d 512, 513 (1963)). Further, "[s]uch an award must not be based on surmise, conjecture, or speculation." *Id.* In light of these constraints, the Full Commission was correct in affirming the denial of additional benefits for the remaining injury allegations Brailsford raised below and in this Court.

I. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE CONCLUSION OF THE UNANIMOUS FULL COMMISSION THAT APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO ADDITIONAL WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS.

The Full Commission reviewed the substantial evidence below and unanimously affirmed the single commissioner's determination that Brailsford sustained a work-related injury to her left shoulder only and that she did not sustain any other work-related injuries or conditions. Further, the Full Commission unanimously and correctly affirmed the single commissioner's conclusions that Brailsford did not establish a causal connection between her compensable injury and any other ailment, that the award of permanent partial disability is properly limited to the maximum period of 500 weeks, and that Respondents were entitled to stop temporary total disability payments as well as a credit for overpayment of those benefits. The judgment below should be affirmed because these findings are supported by the substantial evidence in the record and because Brailsford cannot establish that an error of law has been committed.

A. The Full Commission Properly Affirmed The Decision Authorizing Termination of Temporary Total Disability Payments And Credit For Overpayment Based Upon The Date Of Filing Of Respondents' Form 21, Employer's Request For Hearing.

It was appropriate to terminate Brailsford's temporary total disability benefits and to award Respondents credit for overpayment as of July 25, 2016, the date Respondents filed their Form 21, Request for Hearing/Stop payment of compensation. As the Supreme Court of South Carolina has observed, "the date of maximum medical improvement signals the end of entitlement to temporary total benefits." *Curriel v. Environmental Management Services (MS)*, 376 S.C. 23, 29, 655 S.E.2d 482, 485 (2007). Further, "[t]he term 'maximum medical improvement' means a person has reached such a plateau that, in the physician's opinion, no further medical care or treatment will lessen the period of impairment." *Id.* (citing *Hall v. United Rentals, Inc.*, 371 S.C. 69, 89, 636 S.E.2d 876, 887) (Ct. App. 2006) (additional citations omitted)). Since maximum medical improvement is a factual finding for the Commission, its determination must be upheld if supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* (citation omitted).

The substantial, and only, evidence presented to the single commissioner or the Full Commission in this case demonstrates Brailsford received treatment for her left shoulder injury and reached maximum medical improvement as of July 29, 2014. Following her November 23, 2014 injury, Brailsford treated with Dr. Oscar Lovelace. A December 28, 2010 MRI of the left shoulder indicated a rotator cuff tear, which was surgically repaired by Dr. Wendall Holmes on March 9, 2011. (Defs.' APA, p. 0025; pp. 0056-0058) Brailsford received subsequent additional treatment for the left shoulder injury, including revision surgery performed by Dr. David Lee, physical therapy, and, ultimately, a reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. (*Id.*, pp. 0181-0184; pp. 0235-0237) Following these interventions and therapy, Dr. Lee determined Brailsford reached

maximum medical improvement as of July 29, 2014, and he assigned a converted 46.7% impairment rating to the left shoulder. (*Id.*, pp. 0229-0230)

B. Appellant Failed To Meet Her Burden Of Proving She Sustained Additional Work Related Physical Injuries.

The burden of demonstrating a compensable injury rests with the claimant in a workers' compensation case, and "[w]here the only reasonable inference from the record is that the claimant has failed to sustain this burden, it would be futile to remand the case." *Shealy v. Algernon Blair, Inc.*, 250 S.C. 106, 110, 156 S.E.2d 646, 648 (1967). In this case, the medical evidence demonstrates, and the Full Commission agreed, that Appellant received extensive medical treatment for a compensable work-related injury to the left shoulder only. The substantial record evidence further demonstrates that all of the treatment she received was limited to the left shoulder injury. Stated differently, there is no record evidence, medical, expert, or otherwise, of any treatment to any other body part, and Brailsford admitted as much before the Full Commission. Arguing before the Full Commission, Brailsford was asked whether she presented the single commissioner with "any evidence" demonstrating a causative link between her admitted left shoulder injury and the liver disease she allegedly developed thereafter, to which she responded "no." (January 23, 2017 Hr'g Trans., p. 10, line 16 – p. 11, line 7)

C. Appellant Has Waived Her Claim For A Compensable Psychological Overlay Or Depression.

As noted, Brailsford's Notice of Appeal does not indicate that she is challenging the denial of benefits for psychological overlay or depression, and she did not present that issue to the single commissioner for his determination. At oral argument before the single commissioner, the single commissioner noted Brailsford was seeking "an award of permanent partial disability

to her left shoulder, her left arm and her left hand[,] and she is seeking future medical care for causally related maintenance, replacement or repair of the prosthetic shoulder.” (August 1, 2016 Hr’g Trans., p. 6, lines 3-7) When asked by the single commissioner if she was seeking any additional benefits she responded “no.” (*Id.*, p. 6, lines 8-10) She once again confirmed that she was not seeking benefits for depression at the conclusion of the hearing. (*Id.*, p. 19, line 20 – p. 20, line 11) The issue of depression was not argued before the Full Commission, and it found that she “did not sustain any other injuries by accident . . . [including] depression” presumably based on Brailsford’s failure to make this argument before the single commissioner. (March 29, 2017 Decision and Order, p. 7, ¶ 4) *See Robbins v. Walgreens and Broadspire Services, Inc.*, 375 S.C. 259, 652 S.E.2d 90 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding argument on appeal was waived where claimant failed to argue issue before the single commissioner or the Appellate Panel). As such, Brailsford’s claim for depression should be deemed abandoned and not subject to further appellate review.